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CORPORATE INFORMATION
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

The directors submit their report on the affairs of the Company together with financial statements and
the auditors’ report for the year ended 31 December 2024, which disclose the state of affairs of the
Company.

1

INCORPORATION INFORMATION

Airtel Rwanda Limited (the Company) is a limited liability Company incorporated and domiciled in
Rwanda and its registered office is Airtel Rwanda Limited, Remera, Gasabo, P.O. Box 4164, Kigali
Rwanda. The principal activity of the Company is the provision of a public GSM mobile
telecommunication network in Rwanda.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company are the provision of a public mobile telecommunication
network.

RESULTS

The results for the year are set out on page 8.
DIVIDEND

The directors do not recommend payment of dividend with respect to the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

RESERVES

The reserves of the Company are set out on page 10.

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and to the date of this report are set out on page 1.
STAFF WELFARE

Management has designed a number of compensation packages in order to recruit and retain good
quality and dedicated staff, including advances. Other staff incentives include a health insurance
package.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

Airtel Rwanda Limited continues to maintain a good relationship with all stakeholders including the
regulators.

RELATED PARTIES

All related party transactions and balances are disclosed in note 22 to these financial statements.



AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED

DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

10. GOING CONCERN

11.

12

The Directors are of the opinion that the Company is going concern on the basis that the Company:
a) Will generate cash inflows from operations;
b) Will obtain funding from the third parties; and

c) The Company will be able to obtain from the shareholders any additional funding required to
meet its obligations as and when they fall due.

The Directors are confident that the funds described above will be available to the Company to
support its obligations as required and that it is therefore appropriate to prepare the financial
statements on a going concern basis.

AUDITORS

BDO East Africa (Rwanda) Ltd were appointed initially in the year 2021 and have expressed their
willingness to continue in office in accordance with Law No 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 as madified
and complimented to date by the Law No 019/2023 of 30/03/2023 governing companies in Rwanda.

DISCLOSURE OF INFORMATION TO AUDITORS
Each of the directors at the date of approval of this report confirms that:

- so far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the company's auditor is
unaware; and

- the director has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information, and to establish that the company's auditor is aware of that
information.

By Order of the Board

The financial stftements on pages 8 to 55 were approved at a meeting of the Directors held on
L2857 WAt 2025 and signed on it

Shema Baker \\__j}
Ve w\jDL,

Company Secretary




AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

Law No 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 governing companies as modified and complemented to date by the
Law No 019/2023 of 30/03/2023 governing companies requires the directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company
as at the end of the financial year and of the operating results of the Company for that year. It also
requires the directors to ensure that the Company keeps proper accounting records which disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company. They are also responsible for
safeguarding the assets of the Company.

In preparing our company’s financial statements, the directors are required to:

e Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently

e Make judgments and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent

e Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that
Airtel Rwanda will continue in business

e Present information, including accounting policies, in a way that provides relevant, reliable, comparable
and understandable information

* Provide additional disclosures when the specific requirements in IFRSs do not enable readers to
understand the impact of transactions, other events and conditions on our financial position and financial
performance

e Make an assessment of our ability to continue as a going concern

The directors are of the opinion that the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the
financial affairs of the Company as at 31 December 2024 and of its loss and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with the IFRS Accounting Standards and the requirements of the Rwanda Law No
007/2021 of 05/02/2021 governing companies as modified and complimented to date by the Law No
019/2023 of 30/03/2023 governing companies.

The financial stafements set out on pages 8 to 55, which have been prepared on the going concern basis,
were approved e board of directors on 2025 and'weke signed on their behalf
by:

Richard Mugishav

Emrfanuel Hamé‘g’/ ’
"’glr[’@f Chairman

Managing Director

1 - ¥ B
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D ——— rwanda®@bdo-ea.com KG 541st Road, P.O. Box 6593
www.bdo-ea.com Kigali, Rwanda

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Shareholders of Airtel Rwanda Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of Airtel In our opinion the accompanying financial
Rwanda Limited “the Company” set out on pages 8 to statements present fairly, in all material
55, which comprise: respects, the financial position of the Company
as at December 31, 2024, and its financial

" the statement of financial position as at December performance and its cash flows for the year then
31, 2024, ended in accordance with IFRS Accounting

- ¢ - " Standards as issued by the International
the statement o  COWDIetistisne  Ineome, Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the
statement of changes in equity and statement of requirements of Law No. 007/2021 of
cash flows for the year then ended, and 05/02/2021 governing Companies in Rwanda as
modified and complemented to date by the Law

® notes to the financial statements, including No. 019/2023 of 30/03/2023

material accounting policy information.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA
Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements
in Rwanda, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements
and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern

We draw attention to Note 38 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a
net loss of Rwf’000 78,981,209 (2023: Rwf’000 105,981,565). As of 31 December 2024, the Company’s
accumulated losses were Rwf’000 566,811,890 (2023: Rwf’000 487,824,178) and that the total liabilities
Rwf’000 734,308,470 (2023: Rwf’000 652,535,705) exceed its total assets Rwf’'000 167,596,580 (2023:
Rwf’000 164,811,527). As stated in Note 38, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set
forth in Note 38, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

Other Information

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Report of the Directors and Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, but does not include
the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon. Do
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Other Information

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Management and Thaose Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in
accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the IASB, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the
basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

® Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting
a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control,

® Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control.

" Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

® Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue
as a going concern. Rid
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Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope
and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements

As required by the Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 governing Companies in Rwanda as modified and
complemented to date by the Law No. 019/2023 of 30/03/2023 we report to you, based on our audit,
that:

We have no relationship, interest or debt with Company. As indicated in our report on the audit of
the financial statements, we comply with ethical requirements. These are the International Ethics
Standards Board for Accountants' International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), which includes comprehensive independence
and other requirements.

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our knowledge and
belief, were necessary for the purpose of our audit.

In our opinion, proper books of account have been kept by the Company, so far as appears from our
examination of those books.

We have communicated with those charged with governance our significant audit findings, and
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identified during our audit.

According to the best of the information and the explanations given to us as auditors, as shown by
the accounting and other documents of the company, the financial statements comply with Article
125 of Law No. 007/2021 of 05/02/2021 governing companies in Rwanda as modified and
complemented to date by the Law No. 019/2023 of 30/03/2023.

BDO East Africa (Rwanda) Ltd
Certified Public Accountants
Career Center Building, 8™ Floor
KG 541st, P.O Box 6593

Kigali, Rwanda

BDCL EA RWANDA Lta

Tel:+250 788309225

i _&250 738304070
‘ \JW' P.0 Box 6593 Kigali, Rwanda

CPA Roy Kinoti Nkandau
PC/CPA 0647/0134
Engagement Partner

Date: (4 A'pw! 2025



AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the Year ended December 31, 2024

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(All amounts are in Thousand Rwf, unless stated otherwise)

Income
Service Revenue
Other income

Expenses

Network operating expenses

Access charges

License fees & Spectrum usage charges
Employee benefit expenses

Sales and marketing expenses

Other operating expenses

Depreciation and amortization

Operating loss
Foreign exchange loss
Finance costs

Finance Income

Loss before taxation
Income tax expense

Loss for the period

Other comprehensive Loss

Total comprehensive loss

Note

ot
N o PR NO

13
14
14

29

For the year ended 31 December

2024 2023
68,848,481 54,768,510
121,686 186,730
68,970,167 54,955,240
20,248,349 18,004,619
2,124,386 9,617,920
5,797,313 3,781,409
7,911,905 6,026,402
11,197,421 9,890,985
6,293,730 4,714,530
17,915,678 19,736,808
71,488,782 71,772,673
(2,518,615) (16,817,433)
56,783,689 75,438,981
20,465,753 14,150,623
(786,848) (425,472)
(78,981,209)  (105,981,565)
(78,981,209)  (105,981,565)
6,503 5,192
(78,987,712) _ (105,986,757)

(This space has been intentionally left blank)



AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year ended December 31, 2024
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

(All amounts are in thousand Rwf, unless stated otherwise)

Notes
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15
Capital work in progress 15
Right of use assets 17
Intangible assets 16
Goodwill 18
Other non-current assets 19
Current assets
Inventories 20
Financial Assets:
- Trade and other receivables 21
- Due from related parties 22
- Cash and cash equivalents 25
- Other bank balance 2D
Total assets
Current liabilities
Financial Liabilities
- Lease liabilities 31(c)
- Borrowings 23
- Trade and other payables 26
- Due to related parties 22
- Bank overdraft 28
Deferred revenue 27
Other non-financial liabilities 30
Non-current liabilities
Financial Liabilities
- Borrowings 23
- Lease liabilities 31(c)
Deferred Revenue 27
Total Liabilities
Net Assets
Equity

Share capital 24
Accumulated losses -

Total equity

The fi{nanc‘ | stater)énfs on pages

S0

a..}(,
mw *ltg

Emm&fuel Hamez
Managing Director

As at 31st December

2024 2023
67,686,391 36,705,610
14,936,571 3,424,225
22,524,386 14,620,015

6,410,344 7,319,364
10,242,636 10,242,636
2,739,102 3,491,233
124,539,430 75,803,083
273,234 272,952
16,582,464 13,732,248
13,375,151 16,746,797
12,826,301 26,758,447
. 31,498,000
43,057,150 89,008,444
167,596,580 164,811,527
8,005,099 7,777,457
4,941,078 2,418,298
30,398,990 39,986,188
20,380,774 19,483,549
4,279,863 4,269,825
5,573,132 3,413,460

- 50,200,747
73,578,936 127,549,524

622,990,139 495,651,783
31,924,970 22,564,174

5,814,425 6,770,224
660,729,534 524,986,181

734,308,470

652,535,705

(566,711,890) (487,724,178)
100,000 100,000
(566,811,890)  (487,824,178)

(566,711,890)

(487,724,178)

(566,711,890)

(487,724,178)

iis ere appro ed
and were sig ed,,gn ng

Richart
Chairman

he board of directors on




AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the Year ended December 31, 2024

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
(All amounts are in thousand Rwf, unless stated otherwise)

At 1 January 2024
Total comprehensive loss

At 31 December 2024

At 1 January 2023
Total comprehensive loss

At 31 December 2023

Accumulated

Share capital losses Total
Rwf '000 Rwf '000 Rwf '000
100,000  (487,824,178)  (487,724,178)

» (78,987,712) (78,987,712)
100,000 _ (566,811,890) _ (566,711,890)
100,000 (381,837,421) (381,737,421)

- (105,986,757) (105,986,757)
100,000  (487,824,178) (487,724,178)

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED

ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the Year ended December 31, 2024
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Al amounts are in thousands Rwf, unless stated otherwise)

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Loss before tax

Adjustments for:

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment
Amortizations of intangible asset

Depreciation on right of use asset

Provision for bad debt

Foreign exchange loss

Interest expenses (Net)

Grant Received

Operating Profit before working capital changes

Working Capital Changes
Inventories

Trade and other receivables and due from related party
Trade and other payables and due to Related party
Grant Utilized

Deferred revenue

Net cash used in operating activities
Income tax paid

Net cash used in operating activities

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Interest Income on deposits

Proceeds from maturity of bank deposit

Net cash generated from/used in investing activities

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Proceeds from borrowings

Repayment of borrowings

Repayment of lease liabilities

Interest and other finance charges paid

Net cash used in/generated from financing activities
Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year
Represented by:

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank overdraft

Note

12
12
12
11
13
14
30

30

29

15

23

25
28

For the year ended 31 December

2024 2023
(78,987,712)  (105,981,565)
11,148,449 14,615,775
909,022 967,426
5,858,207 4,153,607
19,025 (16,611)
56,783,689 76,728,650
19,678,905 14,150,623
- 50,200,747
15,409,585 54,818,652
(282) 2,335
(74,726) (5,252,394)
(14,887,085) 16,637,085
(50,200,747) .
1,203,873 (301,575)
(48,549,383) 65,904,103
(48,549,383) 65,904,103

(53,659,192)
786,848
31,498,000

(12,491,609)

(31,498,000)

(21,374,344)

(43,989,609)

167,123,418 23,652,192
(83,959,477) (2,722,004)
(11,521,935) (10,853,193)
(15,660,463) (9,634,211)
55,981,543 442,784
(13,942,184) 22,357,278
22,488,622 131,344
8,546,438 22,488,622
12,826,301 26,758,447
(4,279,863) (4,269,825)
8,546,438 22,488,622

(This space has been intentionally left blank)
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AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For

1.

2.

2.1.

the Year ended December 31, 2024
Corporate information

Airtel Rwanda Limited (the Company) is a limited liability Company incorporated and domiciled in
Rwanda and its registered office is Airtel Rwanda Limited, Remera, Gasabo, P.O. Box 4164, Kigali
Rwanda. The principal activity of the Company is the provision of a public GSM mobile
telecommunication network in Rwanda.

The parent Company is Bharti Airtel Rwanda Holdings Limited, which owns 100% shareholding of the
Company. The intermediate parent of the company is Airtel Africa plc (formerly known as Airtel Africa
Limited) which is listed in London Stock Exchange. The intermediate parent of Airtel Africa plc is
Bharti Airtel Limited which is registered in India and listed in Bombay Stock Exchange and National
Stock Exchange of India.

Application of new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards
New and amended Standards that are effective for the current year

In the current year, the company has applied a number of amendments to IFRS Accounting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) that are mandatorily
effective for an accounting period that begins on or after 1 January 2024. Their adoption has not
had any material impact on the disclosures or on the amounts reported in these financial
statements.

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash flows and IFRS 7 financial instruments:
Disclosures titled supplier finance arrangements

The Company has adopted the amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures titled Supplier Finance Arrangements for the first time in the
current year.

The amendments add a disclosure objective to IAS 7 stating that an entity is required to disclose
information about its supplier finance arrangements that enables users of financial statements to
assess the effects of those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows. In addition,
IFRS 7 is amended to add supplier finance arrangements as an example within the requirements
to disclose information about an entity’s exposure to concentration of liquidity risk.

The amendments contain specific transition provisions for the first annual reporting period in
which the Company applies the amendments. Under the transitional provisions an entity is not
required to disclose:

e comparative information for any reporting periods presented before the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies those amendments
e the information otherwise required by IAS 7:44H(b)(ii)-(iii) as at the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies those amendments.
Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

The Company has adopted the amendments to IAS 1, published in January 2020, for the first time
in the current year.

The amendments affect only the presentation of liabilities as current or non-current in the
statement of financial position and not the amount or timing of recognition of any asset, liability,
income or expenses, or the information disclosed about those items.

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the Year ended December 31, 2024
The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on
rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is
unaffected by expectations about whether an entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a
liability, explain that rights are in existence if covenants are complied with at the end of the
reporting period, and introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that settlement refers to
the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements—Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants

The Company has adopted the amendments to IAS 1, published in November 2022, for the first
time in the current year.

The amendments specify that only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before
the end of the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least
twelve months after the reporting date (and therefore must be considered in assessing the
classification of the liability as current or non-current). Such covenants affect whether the right
exists at the end of the reporting period, even if compliance with the covenant is assessed only
after the reporting date (e.g. a covenant based on the entity’s financial position at the reporting
date that is assessed for compliance only after the reporting date).

The IASB also specifies that the right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting date is not affected if an entity only has to comply with a covenant after the
reporting period.

However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with covenants within twelve months after the reporting period, an entity discloses information
that enables users of financial statements to understand the risk of the liabilities becoming
repayable within twelve months after the reporting period. This would include information about
the covenants (including the nature of the covenants and when the entity is required to comply
with them), the carrying amount of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that
indicate that the entity may have difficulties complying with the covenants.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases—Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback
The Company has adopted the amendments to IFRS 16 for the first time in the current year.

The amendments to IFRS 16 add subsequent measurement requirements for sale and leaseback
transactions that satisfy the requirements in IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to
be accounted for as a sale. The amendments require the seller-lessee to determine ‘lease
payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ such that the seller-lessee does not recognise a gain or
loss that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-lessee, after the commencement date.

The amendments do not affect the gain or loss recognised by the seller-lessee relating to the
partial or full termination of a lease. Without these new requirements, a seller-lessee may have
recognised a gain on the right of use it retains solely because of a remeasurement of the lease
liability (for example, following a lease modification or change in the lease term) applying the
general requirements in IFRS 16. This could have been particularly the case in a leaseback that
includes variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate.
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2.2.

the Year ended December 31, 2024

As part of the amendments, the IASB amended an Illustrative Example in IFRS 16 and added a
new example to illustrate the subsequent measurement of a right-of-use asset and lease liability
in a sale and leaseback transaction with variable lease payments that do not depend on an index
or rate. The illustrative examples also clarify that the liability that arises from a sale and |leaseback
transaction that qualifies as a sale applying IFRS 15 is a lease liability.

A seller-lessee applies the amendments retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 to sale and
leaseback transactions entered into after the date of initial application, which is defined as the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which the entity first applied IFRS 16

New and revised standards in issue but not yet effective
At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, the Company has not applied the

following new and revised IFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet
effective.

Standard or Description Effective date
amendment
IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements 1 January 2027

Amendments to IAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21)

Amendments IFRS 9 Amendments IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 regarding the

1 January 2025

1 January 2026

and IFRS 7 classification and measurement of financial
instruments
Annual IFRS Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — 1 January 2026

improvement Vol. 11 Volume 11

The Directors do not expect that the adoption of the standards listed above will have a material
impact on the financial statements of the Company in future periods, except if indicated below.

Impact of new and amended standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective
in the year ended 31 December 2024

IFRS 18 - Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1, carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1 unchanged and
complementing them with new requirements. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have been
moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Furthermore, the IASB has made minor amendments to IAS 7 and
IAS 33 Earnings per Share.

IFRS 18 introduces new requirements to:

e present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss

e provide disclosures on management-defined performance measures (MPMs) in the notes to the
financial statements

e improve aggregation and disaggregation.

An entity is required to apply IFRS 18 for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with earlier application permitted. The amendments to IAS 7 and IAS 33, as well as the
revised IAS 8 and IFRS 7, become effective when an entity applies IFRS 18. IFRS 18 requires
retrospective application with specific transition provisions.
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The Directors of the Company anticipate that the application of these amendments may have an
impact on the financial statements in future periods.

Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21)

The amendments in Lack of Exchangeability (Amendments to IAS 21) amend IAS 21 to:

* Specify when a currency is exchangeable into another currency and when it is not — a currency
is exchangeable when an entity is able to exchange that currency for the other currency through
markets or exchange mechanisms that create enforceable rights and obligations without undue
delay at the measurement date and for a specified purpose; a currency is not exchangeable into
the other currency if an entity can only obtain an insignificant amount of the other currency.

e Specify how an entity determines the exchange rate to apply when a currency is not
exchangeable — when a currency is not exchangeable at the measurement date, an entity
estimates the spot exchange rate as the rate that would have applied to an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date and that would faithfully reflect the
economic conditions prevailing.

* Require the disclosure of additional information when a currency is not exchangeable — when
a currency is not exchangeable an entity discloses information that would enable users of its
financial statements to evaluate how a currency’s lack of exchangeability affects, or is expected
to affect, its financial performance, financial position and cash flows.

The amendments also extend to conforming amendments to IFRS 1 which previously referred to,
but did not define, exchangeability.

The amendments to IAS 21 are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025 and the Directors do not anticipate that its adoption will result into material impact on the
financial statements.

Amendments IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 regarding the classification and measurement of
financial instruments

The International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) has issued 'Amendments to the
Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments (Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7)' to
address matters

identified during the post-implementation review of the classification and measurement
requirements of IFRS 9 'Financial Instruments.

The amendments clarify that a financial liability is derecognised on the 'settlement date' and
introduce an accounting policy choice to derecognise financial liabilities settled using an electronic
payment system before the settlement date.

The amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after

1 January 2026 and the Directors do not anticipate that its adoption will result into material impact
on the financial statements.
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Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

The IASB issued Annual Improvements to IFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11

Standard

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption
of International Financial
Reporting Standards

IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments: Disclosures

IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments:

Disclosures (implementation
guidance only)

IFRS 7 Financial
Instruments:

Disclosures (implementation
guidance only)

IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments

IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments

IFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements

IAS 7 Statement of Cash
Flows

The amendment

Hedge accounting by a first-time adopter. The amendment
addresses a potential confusion arising from an inconsistency in
wording between paragraph B6é of IFRS 1 and requirements for hedge
accounting in IFRS 9 Financial Instruments.

Gain or loss on derecognition. The amendment addresses a
potential confusion in paragraph B38 of IFRS 7 arising from an obsolete
reference to a paragraph that was deleted from the standard when IFRS
13 Fair Value Measurement was issued.

Disclosure of deferred difference between fair value and
transaction price. The amendment addresses an inconsistency
between paragraph 28 of IFRS 7 and its accompanying implementation
guidance that arose when a consequential amendment resulting from
the issuance of IFRS 13 was made to paragraph 28, but not to the
corresponding paragraph in the implementation guidance.

Introduction and credit risk disclosures. The amendment
addresses a potential confusion by clarifying in paragraph 1G1 that the
guidance does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements in the
referenced paragraphs of IFRS 7 and by simplifying some explanations.

Lessee derecognition of lease liabilities. The amendment
addresses a potential lack of clarity in the application of the
requirements in IFRS 9 to account for an extinguishment of a lessee’s
lease liability that arises because paragraph 2.1(b)(ii) of IFRS 9
includes a cross-reference to paragraph 3.3.1, but not also to
paragraph 3.3.3 of IFRS 9.

Transaction price. The amendment addresses a potential confusion
arising from a reference in Appendix A to IFRS 9 to the definition of
‘transaction price’ in IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with
Customers while term ‘transaction price’ is used in particular
paragraphs of IFRS 9 with a meaning that is not necessarily consistent
with the definition of that term in IFRS 15.

Determination of a ‘de facto agent’. The amendment addresses a
potential confusion arising from an inconsistency between paragraphs
B73 and B74 of IFRS 10 related to an investor determining whether
another party is acting on its behalf by aligning the language in both
paragraphs.

Cost method. The amendment addresses a potential confusion in
applying paragraph 37 of IAS 7 that arises from the use of the term
‘cost method’ that is no longer defined in IFRS Accounting Standards.
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The annual improvement volume 11 are effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2026 and the Directors do not anticipate that its adoption will result into material impact
on the financial statements.

Accounting policies
Summary of Material accounting policy information

The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these Financial Statements are set
out below.

3.1. Basis of Preparation

The Financial Statements of Airtel Rwanda Limited have been prepared in accordance with IFRS
Accounting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The
Financial Statements are presented in Rwandan Francs and all values are rounded to the nearest
millions except when otherwise indicated.

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those used in the previous year, except
otherwise indicated.

3.2. Basis of measurement

The Financial Statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting period, as explained in
the accounting policies below. Historical cost is based on the fair value of the consideration given
in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price at the measurement date, at which an asset can be sold or the price paid
to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between market participants. The Company's
accounting policies require measurement of certain financial/non-financial assets and liabilities at
fair value (either on a recurring or non-recurring basis).

The Company is required to classify the fair valuation method of the financial/non-financial assets
and liabilities, either measured or disclosed at fair value in the Financial Statements, using a three
level fair-value hierarchy (which reflects the significance of inputs used in the measurement of
fair value). Accordingly, the Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the
use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements
are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, as described below, based on the lowest input that
is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:
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e Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date.

e Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1, that are
observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly: and

e Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

3:3: Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised upon the transfer of control of promised products or services to the
customer at the consideration which the Company has received or expects to receive in exchange
for those products or services, net of any taxes/duties and discounts. When determining the
consideration to which the Company is entitled for providing promised products or services via
intermediaries, the Company assesses whether the intermediary is a principal or agent in the
onward sale to the end customer. To the extent that the intermediary is considered a principal,
the consideration to which the Company is entitled is determined to be that receivable from the
intermediary (accounted at gross). To the extent that the intermediary is considered to be an
agent, the consideration to which the Company is entitled is determined to be the amount
receivable from the ultimate customer (accounted at net off commission). Any upfront discount
or commission provided to the intermediary is recognised as operating expenses where the
intermediary is considered to be an agent.

The Company has entered into certain multiple-element revenue arrangements, which involve the
delivery or performance of multiple products, services or rights to use assets. At the inception of
the arrangement, all the deliverables within the contract are evaluated to determine whether they
represent distinct performance obligations and, if so, they are accounted for separately.

Total consideration related to the multiple element arrangements is allocated to each performance
obligation based on their relative standalone selling prices. The standalone selling prices are the
prices at which the Company would sell a promised good or service separately to a customer.

Revenue is recognised when, or as, each distinct performance obligation is satisfied. The main
categories of revenue and the basis of /recognition are as follows:

Service revenue

Service revenue is derived from the provision of telecommunications services to customers. The
majority of the Company’s customers subscribe to services on a pre-paid basis.

Telecommunications service revenue mainly pertains to usage, subscription charges for voice,
data, messaging and value added services and customer onboarding charges.

Telecommunications services are considered to represent a single performance obligation as all
are provided over the Company’s network and transmitted as data representing a digital signal
on the network. The transmission consumes network bandwidth and therefore, irrespective of the
nature of the communication, the customer ultimately receives access to the network and the
right to consume network bandwidth.

Customers primarily pay in advance for services of the Company. These cash amounts are
recognised in deferred revenue in the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred
to the profit and loss when the service obligation has been performed/ when the usage of services
becomes remote.
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The Company recognises revenue from these services over time as they are provided. Revenue
is recognised over time based on actual units of telecommunications services provided during the
reporting period as a proportion of the total units of telecommunications services to be provided.

Subscription charges are recognised over the subscription pack validity period. Customer
onboarding revenue is recognised upon successful onboarding of customers i.e., upfront.

Revenue recognised in excess of amounts invoiced are classified as unbilled revenue. If amounts
invoiced/collected from a customer are in excess of revenue recognised, a deferred
revenue/advance income is recognised.

Service revenue also includes revenue from interconnection/roaming charges for use of the
Company’s network by other operators for voice, data, messaging and signalling services.

Revenue from long distance operations comprise voice services and bandwidth services (including
installation), which are recognised on the provision of services, provided over the period of the
respective arrangements.

The Company has interconnect agreements with local and foreign operators. This allows
customers from either network to originate or terminate calls to each other’s network. Revenue
is earned and recognised as per bilateral agreements when other operators’ calls are terminated
to the Company’s network, i.e., when the service is rendered.

Equipment sales

Equipment sales mainly pertain to sale of telecommunication equipment and related accessories
for which revenue is recognised when the control of equipment is transferred to the customeri.e.,
transferred at a point in time.

Costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer

The Company defers costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer over expected average
customer life determined based on churn rate specific to such contracts.

3.4. Functional currency and translation of foreign currencies

Functional and presentation currency
The items included within the Financial Statements of the Company are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (i.e., ‘functional

currency’).

The Financial Statements are presented in Rwandan Francs, which is also the functional, and
presentation currency of the Company.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the relevant functional currency at the
rates prevailing at the date of the transaction.
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Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional
currency at the closing exchange rate prevailing as at the reporting date with the resulting foreign
exchange differences, on subsequent re-statement/settlement, recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income within finance costs/finance income. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into the functional currency
using the exchange rate prevalent, at the date of initial recognition (in case they are measured
at historical cost) or at the date when the fair value is determined (in case they are measured at
fair. value) - with the resulting foreign exchange difference, on subsequent re-statement/
settlement, recognised in the profit and loss, except to the extent that it relates to items
recognised in the other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

The equity items denominated in foreign currencies are translated at historical exchange rate.

3:ih, Property, plant and equipment (‘PPE’)

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset, if and only if, it
is probable that the future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company
and its cost can be measured reliably.

PPE is initially recognised at cost. The initial cost of PPE comprises its purchase price (including
non-refundable duties and taxes and after deducting trade discounts and rebates), and any
directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to its working condition and location of its intended
use. Further, it includes assets installed on the premises of customers where the associated risks,
rewards and control remain with the Company.

Subsequent to initial recognition, PPE is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. When significant parts of PPE are required to be replaced at regular intervals,
the Company recognises such parts as a separate component of each asset. When an item of PPE
is replaced, its carrying amount is de-recognised from the statement of financial position and the
cost of the new item of PPE is recognised.

The expenditure incurred after an item of PPE is ready to use, such as repairs and maintenance,
are charged to the profit and loss in the period in which such costs are incurred. However, in
situations where the expenditure can be measured reliably and it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with it will flow to the Company, it is included in the asset’s carrying value or
as a separate asset, as appropriate.

Depreciation on PPE is computed using the straight-line method over the PPE’s estimated useful
lives.

Freehold land is not depreciated as it has an unlimited useful life. The Company has established
the estimated range of useful lives for different categories of PPE as follows:

Categories Period (Years)
Buildings and leasehold improvements 20

Plant and Machinery 3-25
Computer equipment 3
Furniture & fixture and Office Equipment 1-5
Motor vehicles 5

The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of PPE are reviewed, and adjusted
appropriately, at least, at each financial year end so as to ensure that the method and period of
depreciation are consistent with the expected pattern of economic benefits from these assets. The
effect of any change in the estimated useful lives, residual values and/or depreciation method are
accounted for prospectively, with depreciation calculated over the PPE’s remaining revised useful
life.
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The cost and the accumulated depreciation for PPE sold, scrapped, retired, or otherwise disposed
of are de-recognised from the statement of financial position and the resulting gains/(losses) are
included in the profit and loss within other income/other expenses, respectively.

PPE in the course of construction less any accumulated impairment is carried at cost and presented
separately as CWIP (including capital advances) in the statement of financial position until ready
for use at which point it is transferred to PPE and subsequently depreciated. Such cost comprises
the purchase price (including non-refundable duties and taxes but excluding any trade discounts
and rebates), and any other directly attributable costs.

3.6. Intangible assets

Identifiable intangible assets are recognised when the Company controls the asset, it is probable
that future economic benefits attributed to the asset will flow to the Company and the cost of the
asset can be measured reliably.

Goodwill represents the cost of the acquired businesses in excess of the fair value of identifiable
net assets acquired. Goodwill is not amortised; however, it is tested for impairment and carried
at cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. The gains/(losses) on the disposal of a cash-
generating unit (group of CGUs) includes the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the group of
CGUs sold. In case goodwill has been allocated to group of CGUs, allocation of goodwill is
determined based on the relative value of the operations sold in order to compute the
gain/(losses).

Intangible assets that are acquired in a business combination are initially recognised at fair value
at the acquisition date. Other intangible assets are recognised at cost which includes its purchase
price and cash price equivalent of deferred payments beyond normal credit terms, if any.
Intangible assets with definite useful life are carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and
any impairment losses. Amortisation is computed using the straight-line method over the
expected useful life.

Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets is capitalised only when it increases the future
economic benefits embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditures are
recognised in profit and loss as incurred.

The Company has established the estimated useful lives of different categories of intangible assets
as follows:

Software

Software is amortised over the period of the licence, generally not exceeding three (3) years.
Licences (including spectrum)

Acquired licenses and spectrum are amortised commencing from the date when the related
network is available for intended use in the relevant jurisdiction over the relevant license period.
The useful life generally ranges from ten to twenty years.

In addition, the Company incurs a fee on licenses/spectrum that is calculated based on the
revenue amount of the period. These fees are recognised as an expense in the statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income when incurred.

Internally-generated intangible assets - research and development expenditure
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Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred.
An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development (or from the development
phase of an internal project) is recognised, if and only if, all of the following conditions have been
met:
= The technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for
use or sale
e The intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it
s  The ability to use or sell the intangible asset
e The intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits
¢ The availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the
development and to use or sell the intangible asset
e The ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during
its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible assets is the sum of the
expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria
listed above.

Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is
recognised in profit and loss in the period in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Other acquired intangible assets

Other acquired intangible assets include customer relationships - over the estimated life of such
relationships which ranges from one (1) year to five (5) years.

The useful lives and amortisation method are reviewed, and adjusted appropriately, at least at
each financial year end so as to ensure that the method and period of amortisation are consistent
with the expected pattern of economic benefits from these assets. The effect of any change in the
estimated useful lives and/or amortisation method is accounted prospectively, and accordingly,
the amortisation is calculated over the remaining revised useful life.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected
from use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are
recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised.

F. 7 Accounting for leases

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses a contract as, or containing, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange
for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset, the Company assesses whether the contract involves the use of an identified asset, the
Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset
throughout the period of use; and the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset.
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Company as a lessee

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with respect to
all lease agreements in which it is the lessee in the statement of financial position. The lease
liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the
commencement date, discounted by using the rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be
readily determined, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate. Lease liabilities include the
net present value of fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), variable lease
payments that are based on index, the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option, and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Subsequently, the lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
It is re-measured when there is a change in future lease payments including changes in index or
if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension, or
termination option or when the lease contract is modified, and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease. The corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount
of the right-of-use asset or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the related right-
of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount of the initial measurement of
the lease liability, any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease
incentives received, any initial direct costs, and restoration costs.

Subsequent to the initial recognition, right-of-use asset are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses and adjusted for certain re-measurements of the lease
liability. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method from the commencement date
to the end of the useful life of the underlying asset or the end of the lease term, whichever is
shorter. The estimated useful lives of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as
those of the underlying asset.

In the statement of financial position, the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are presented
separately.

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Company allocates the
consideration in the contract on the basis of the relative stand-alone prices of each lease
component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

Company as a lessor

Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to
the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term.

When a contract includes lease and non-lease components, the Company applies IFRS 16 to
allocate the consideration under the contract to each component.
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The Company enters into ‘Indefeasible right to use’ (‘"IRU") arrangements wherein the right to use
the assets is given over the substantial part of the asset life. However, as the title to the assets
and the significant risks associated with the operation and maintenance of these assets remains
with the Company, such arrangements are recognised as operating lease. The contracted price is
recognised as revenue during the tenure of the agreement. Unearned IRU revenue received in
advance is presented as deferred revenue within liabilities in the statement of financial position.

Short-term leases

The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term
leases of machinery that have a lease term of 12 months or less. The Company recognises the
lease payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

3.8. Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on a first-
in first-out basis.Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated variable costs necessary to
make the sale. The costs comprise its purchase price and any directly attributable cost of bringing
it to its present location and condition.

3.9. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, wallet balances, bank balances, cheque in hand
and any deposits with original maturities of three months or less (that are readily convertible to
known amounts of cash and cash equivalents and subject to an insignificant risk of changes in
value). However, for the purpose of the statement of cash flows, in addition to the above items,
any bank overdrafts that are integral part of the Company’s cash management is also included as
a component of cash and cash equivalents. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in
current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position.

3.10. Provisions

General

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as
a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the
obligation, and the amount of the obligation can be reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle
the relevant obligation, using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money (if the impact of discounting is significant) and the risks specific to the obligation.
The increase in the provision due to un-winding of the discounting due to the passage of time is
recognised within finance costs.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be
recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that
reimbursement will be received, and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

Provision for legal, tax and regulatory matters

The Company is involved in various legal, tax and regulatory matters, the outcome of which may
not be favourable to the Company. Management, in consultation with legal, tax and other advisers
where required, assesses the likelihood that a pending claim will succeed against the Company.
The Company recognises a provision in cases where it is probable that an outflow of resources
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligations arising from such claims.
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3.11. Employee benefits

The Company’s employee benefits mainly include wages, salaries, bonuses, defined contribution
plans, defined benefit plans, other long-term benefits including compensated absences. The
employee benefits are recognised in the year in which the associated services are rendered by
the employees. Short-term employee benefits are recognised in Statement of profit or loss at
undiscounted amounts during the period in which the related services are rendered. Details of
long-term employee benefits are provided below:

Defined Contribution plans

The Company contributes to a statutory defined contribution pension scheme, the Rwanda Social
Security Beard (RSSB). Contributions are determined by local statute and are currently limited
to 5% of the employees’ gross salary. The Company’s RSSB contributions are charged to profit
or loss in the period to which they relate. The Company has no further obligations under these
plans beyond its periodic contributions.

Defined benefit plans

The company has defined benefit plans in form of ‘Retirement Benefits’ wherein, the cost of
providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, with actuarial valuations
being carried out at the end of each quarterly reporting periods. The obligation towards the said
benefits is recognised in the balance sheet under provisions, at the present value of the defined
benefit obligations. The present value of the said obligation is determined by discounting the
estimated future cash outflows, using an appropriate discount rate.

Defined benefit costs are split into the following categories:

i. Service costs, which includes current service cost, past service cost and gains and losses on
curtailments and settlements.
ii. Interest expense; and
iii. Re-measurements.

The company recognises service costs within profit or loss as employee benefit expenses. Past
service, cost is recognised in profit or loss when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs.
Gains or losses on settlement of a defined benefit plan are recognised when the settlement
occurs. Interest cost is calculated by applying a discount rate to the defined benefit liability and
is recognised within finance costs. Re-measurements comprising actuarial gains and losses are
recognised immediately as a charge or credit to other comprehensive income in the period in
which they occur. Re-measurements recognised in other comprehensive income are not
reclassified.

Other entitlements

The employees of the company are entitled to compensated absences. Compensated absences
benefit comprises encashment and the availing of leave balances that were earned by the
employees over the period of past employment,

The company provide for the liability towards these benefits on the basis of actuarial valuations
carried out quarterly as at the reporting date, by an independent qualified actuary using the
projected-unit-credit method. The related re-measurements are recognised in the statement of
profit and loss in the period in which they arise.
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3.12. Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

Current tax and deferred tax are recognised as an expense or income in profit or loss, except to
the extent that it relates to items credited or debited directly to equity or other comprehensive
income, in which case it is recognised directly in equity or other comprehensive income.

Current tax

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit
as reported in the income statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it also excludes items that are never taxable or deductible.
The Company's liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by reporting date. The payment made in excess/ (shortfall)of the income
tax obligation for the respective periods are recognised in the statement of financial position under
income tax assets/income tax liabilities, respectively.

Any interest, related to accrued liabilities for potential tax assessments are not included in income
tax charge or (credit), but are rather recognised within finance costs.

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain, but it is
considered probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions
are measured at the best estimate of the amount expected to become payable or based on
expected value approach, as applicable and are presented within current tax liabilities. The
assessment is based on the judgement of tax professionals within the company supported by
previous experience in respect of such activities and in certain cases based on specialist
independent tax advice.

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the company has a legally enforceable right
to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on all temporary differences arising between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying values for financial reporting purposes.
However, the deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from the initial recognition of an asset
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates
and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date and are
expected to apply when the related deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets, recognised and unrecognised, are reviewed at each reporting date and
assessed for recoverability based on best estimates of future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax liabilities and assets and they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the
same taxable entity.
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3.13. Borrowing Cost

Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that the Company incurs in connection with
the borrowing of funds. Borrowing costs include costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset that necessarily takes a substantial period of time to get
ready for its intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur.

3.14. Financial instruments
Recognition, classification and presentation

Financial instruments are recognized in the statement of financial position when the Company
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.
The Company determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial recognition.
The Company classifies its financial assets into the following categories:
e those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive
income, or through profit or loss); and
» those to be measured at amortized cost. The classification depends on the entity’s business
model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cashflows.

The Company has classified all non-derivative financial liabilities as measured at amortized cost.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety for determining the
contractual terms of the cash flow and accordingly, embedded derivatives are not separated.
However, derivatives embedded in non-financial instrument/financial liabilities (measured at
amortized cost) host contracts are classified as separate derivatives if their economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to those of the host contracts.

Financial assets and liabilities arising from different transactions are off-set against each other
and the resultant net amount is presented in the statement of financial position, if and only when,
the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set-off the related recognized amounts
and intends either to settle on a net basis or to realise the assets and settle the liahilities
simultaneously.

Measurement - Non-derivative financial instruments

i Initial measurement

All financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not
recorded at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in

the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Other transaction costs are expensed as incurred in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

ii. Subsequent measurement - financial assets

The subsequent measurement of non-derivative financial assets depends on their classification as
follows:
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Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Assets that are held for the collection of contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate (‘EIR") method (if the impact of discounting/any transaction costs is significant).
Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income.

EIR is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash payments or receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, where appropriate, to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset or to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (*"FVTPL")

All equity instruments and financial assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or fair
value through other comprehensive income (‘*FVTOCI') are measured at FVTPL. Interest (basis
EIR method) and dividend income from financial assets at FVTPL is recognised in the profit and
loss within finance income/finance costs separately from the other gains/losses arising from
changes in the fair value.

Impairment

The Company assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its
assets carried at amortised cost and debt instrument carried at FVTOCI. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition. If credit risk has not increased significantly, 12 month expected credit loss
("ECL") is used to provide for impairment loss, otherwise lifetime ECL is used.

However, only in case of trade receivables and contract assets, the Company applies the simplified
approach which requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the
receivables.

i, Subsequent measurement - financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR method (if the
impact of discounting/any transaction costs is significant).

Measurement - derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments, including separated embedded derivatives that are not
designated as hedging instruments in a hedging relationship are classified as financial instruments
at fair value through profit or loss. Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised
at fair value. They are subsequently measured at their fair value, with changes in fair value being
recognised in profit or loss within finance income/finance costs.

iv. Derecognition

Financial liabilities are derecognised from the statement of financial position when the underlying
obligations are extinguished, discharged, lapsed, cancelled, expires, or legally released. The
financial assets are derecognised from the statement of financial position when the rights to
receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred and the
Company has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. The difference in the
carrying amount and consideration is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.
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3.15. Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill

Goodwill is tested for impairment, at least annually or earlier, in case circumstances indicate that
the carrying value may exceed the recoverable amount (higher of fair value less costs of sell and
the value -in- use).

For the purpose of impairment testing, the goodwill is allocated to a cash-generating-unit (‘CGU’)
or group of CGUs (*CGUs’) which are expected to benefit from the acquisition-related synergies
and represent the lowest level within the entity at which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes, but not higher than an operating segment. A CGU is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or group of assets.

Impairment occurs when the carrying value of a CGU/CGUs including the goodwill, exceeds the
estimated recoverable amount of the CGU/CGUs. The recoverable amount of a CGU/CGUs is the
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. Value-in-use is the present value of
future cash flows expected to be derived from the CGU/CGUs.

The total impairment loss of a CGU/CGUs is allocated first to reduce the carrying value of goodwill
allocated to that CGU/CGUs and then to the other assets of that CGU/CGUs - on pro-rata basis of
the carrying value of each asset.

Property, plant and equipment, Right-of-use assets, Intangible assets and intangible
assets under development

At each reporting period date, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its PPE, right-of-use
assets, CWIP and finite lived intangible assets to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. Intangible assets under development are tested
for impairment, at-least annually or earlier, in case circumstances indicate that it may be
impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable amount (that is, higher of the fair value
less costs to sell and the value-in-use) is determined on an individual asset basis, unless the asset
does not generate cash flows that are largely independent of those from other assets, in which
case the recoverable amount is determined at the CGU level to which the said asset belongs. If
individual assets or a CGU are considered to be impaired, the impairment recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income is measured by the amount by which
the carrying value of the asset/CGU exceeds the estimated recoverable amount and is allocated
on pro-rata basis.

Reversal of impairment losses

Impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. For assets excluding goodwill, an
assessment is made at each reporting date to determine whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses no longer exist or have decreased. If such indication
exists, the Company estimates the asset’s or CGU’s recoverable amount. A previously recognised
impairment loss is reversed only if there has been a change in the assumptions used to determine
the asset’s recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognised, The reversal is
limited so that the carrying amount of the asset does not exceed its recoverable amount, nor
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation, had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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3.16. Asset Retirement obligation (ARQ)

This is a provision for costs expected in the future to dismantle telecommunication towers and
retail shops and restore the sites to their condition prior to installation of the Company’s
equipment. The costs are provided at the present value of expected costs to settle the obligation
using estimated cash flows and are recognised as part of the cost of the particular asset,

The cash flows are discounted at a current pre-tax rate that reflects the risks specific to the asset
retirement liability. The unwinding of the discount is expensed as incurred and recognised in profit
or loss as a finance cost. The estimated future costs of ARO are reviewed annually and adjusted
as appropriate. Changes in the estimated future costs or in the discount rate applied are added
to or deducted from the cost of the asset.

3.17. Investment property

This is property held to earn rental income or capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in
the ordinary course of business, or administration purposes. Investment property is measured at
cost.

3.18. Statement of cash flow

Cash flows are reported using the indirect method as per IAS-7” Statement of cash flows”,
whereby profit for the period is adjusted for the effect of transactions of a non-cash nature, any
deferral or accrual of past or future cash operating receipts or payments and item of income or
expenses associated with investing or financing cash flows, The cash flows from operating,
investing and financing activities are segregated.

3.19. Share capital and Share premium

Issued ordinary shares are classified as Equity when the Company has an un-conditional right to
avoid delivery of cash or another financial asset, that is, when the dividend and repayment of
Capital are at the sole and absolute discretion of the Company and there is no contractual
obligation whatsoever to that effect. Any premium received over and above the par value of the
shares is classified as ‘share premium’ in Equity.

3.20. Current versus non-current classification

The Company presents assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position based on
current/non-current classification.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities, and all assets and liabilities which are not current (as discussed
in the below paragraphs) are classified as non-current assets and liabilities.

An asset is classified as current when it is expected to be realised or intended to be sold or
consumed in the Company’s normal operating cycle, held primarily for the purpose of trading,
expected to be realised within twelve months after the reporting period, or cash or cash equivalent
unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 12 months after
the reporting period.

A liability is classified as current when it is expected to be settled in the Company’s normal
operating cycle, it is held primarily for the purpose of trading, it is due to be settled within 12
months after the reporting period, or there is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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4,

3.21. Contingencies

A disclosure for a contingent liability is made when there is a possible obligation or a present
obligation that may, but probably will not, require an outflow of resources. When there is a
possible obligation or a present obligation in respect of which the likelihood of outflow of resources
is remote, no provision or disclosure is made. Contingent assets are not recognised and disclosed
only where an inflow of economic benefits is probable.

3.22. Dividends

Dividend to shareholders is recognised as a liability and deducted from Equity, in the year in which
the dividends are approved by the shareholders. However, interim dividends declared by the
Board of directors, are recognised as a liability, and deducted from retained earnings, in the year
in which the dividends are so declared.

3.23. Earnings Per Share

The Company presents the Basic and diluted earnings per share (“EPS”) data. Basic EPS is
computed by dividing the profit for the period attributable to the owners of the company by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding during the period.

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per
share to take into account the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would
have been outstanding during the period.

Critical accounting estimates and judgements
(a) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Income taxes

The Company is subject to income taxes under the Income Tax Act. Significant estimates are
required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in the
period in which such determination is made.

Contingent liabilities and provisions

The Company is involved in various legal, tax and regulatory matters, the outcome of which may
not be favourable to the Company. Management in consultation with the legal, tax and other
advisers assess the likelihood that a pending claim will succeed. The Company has applied its
judgement and has recognized liabilities based on whether additional amounts will be payable and
has included contingent liabilities where economic outflows are considered possible but not
probable.

Inventory obsolescence

The Company provides for obsolete and slow-moving inventory based on Management’s estimates
of the usability of inventory.
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(b) Critical judgements in applying the Company’s accounting policies

The critical judgements, which the management has made in the process of applying the
Company's accounting policies and have the most significant impact on the amounts recognised
in the Financial Statements, are discussed below:

Separating lease and non-lease components

The consideration paid by the Company in telecommunication towers lease contracts include the
use of land and passive infrastructure as well as maintenance, security, provision of energy etc.
services. Therefore, in determining the allocation of consideration between lease and non-lease
components, for the additional services that are not separately priced, the Company performs
detailed analysis of cost split to arrive at relative stand-alone prices of each of the components.

Determining the incremental borrowing rate for lease contracts

The Company has recognised lease liabilities at present value using the incremental borrowing
rate (IBR) based on considerations specific to the lease agreement. Since determination of
incremental borrowings is not directly available for the given markets in which Company operates,
the Company has used judgement in determining the IBR by taking into consideration risk free
borrowing rate.

Determining the lease term

Under IFRS 16 if it is reasonably certain that a lease will be extended, the Company is required
to estimate the expected lease period in excess of the current contractual terms. The Company
has various lease agreements with a right to extend /renew wherein it considers the nature of the
contractual terms and economic factors to determine lease term.

The Company has used judgement in determining the lease period considering such factors and
the lease liability has been calculated using the remaining contractual lease period for all of such

lease contracts.
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31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Rwf'000 Rwf'000
5. Service Revenue

Voice revenue 24,721,669 30,003,266
Data revenue 14,954,997 9,909,340
Messaging and VAS revenue 2,930,444 2,381,618
Lease line revenue 4,129,518 4,110,749
Roaming revenue 797,647 673,649
Interconnect revenue 2,204,867 4,931,840
Site share revenue 30,007 78,357
Revenue from services 49,769,149 52,088,819
Sale of goods 19,079,332 2,679,691
Total 68,848,481 54,768,510
Other income 121,686 186,730

68,970,167 54,955,240

Performance obligations that are unsatisfied or partially satisfied amounts to Rwf'000
11,387,557 thousand as at 31 December 2023 and Rwf'000 10,183,684 thousands as at 31
December 2023 respectively. Contract assets (unbilled debtors) amounts to Rwf000
1,080,852 thousand as at 31 December 2023 and Rwf'000 881,550 thousands as at 31
December 2023 respectively.

Other income includes scrap sale and liability written back

For the year ended

31 Dec 2024 31 Dec 2023

Costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer

Opening balance 4,821,964 1,834,433
Costs incurred and deferred 4,703,217 5,242,325
Less: Cost amortized (4,531,687) (2,254,794)
Closing balance 4,993,493 4,821,964
Current 3,957,364 3,106,902
Non-Current 1,036,129 1,715,062

6. Network operating expenses

Site running expenses 11,832,899 11,651,233
Repairs & maintenance including managed service 6,093,491 4,967,059
Bandwidth/lease line charges 1,950,506 1,264,955
Other network expenditure 371,453 121.372
20,248,349 18,004,619
7. Access charges

Interconnection international costs 1,463,364 1,437,504
Interconnection Local costs 298,653 7,604,900

Fees on international interconnect traffic (IGTVS fees) 362,369 575,516
2,124,386 9,617,920
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10.

11.

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Rwf'000 Rwf'000
License fees & Spectrum usage charges
License fees & Spectrum usage charges 5,797,313 3,781,409
5,797,313 3,781,409
Employee benefit expenses
Salaries and wages including bonus 7,438,809 5,695,049
Other cost 473,096 331,353
7,911,905 6,026,402
Other cost includes Staff welfare, Staff Recruitment & Entertainment Expenses.
Sales and marketing expenses
Marketing Expenses 1,330,085 2,070,129
Sales and distribution expenses 9,867,336 7,820,856
11,197,421 9,890,985
Other operating expenses
Travel costs 251,861 263,690
Professional fees 37,170 163,362
Provision for bad debts 19,025 (16,611)
Warehouse expenses 300,286 144,829
Audit fees 46,000 46,000
Other administrative costs 2,190,940 2,179,092
Customer care expenses 306,409 409,197
Motor vehicle expenses 387,697 287,811
IT expenses 855,538 650,333
Other sundry expenses 178,683 117,945
Roaming charges 319,046 61,804
Cost of handset and accessories 1,401,075 407,078
6,293,730 4,714,530
12. Depreciation and Amortisation
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 11,148,449 14,615,775
Depreciation on right of use assets (Note 17) 5,858,207 4,153,607
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 16) 909,022 967,426
17,915,678 19,736,808
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13. Foreign exchange loss (Net)
Foreign exchange - realized
Foreign exchange - unrealized

14. Finance costs and income
Finance costs
Interest on borrowings

Interest on lease liabilities
Other finance costs

Finance income

Interest income on deposits

31 December

31 December

2024 2023
Rwf'000 Rwf'000
30,322,366 (1,289,669)
26,461,323 76,728,650
56,783,689 75,438,981
15,130,127 9,122,968

4,699,713 4,734,724

635,913 292,931
20,465,753 14,150,623
786,848 425,472
786,848 425,472
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16.

Intangible assets

Year ended 31 December 2024
Cost

At 01 January 2024
Additions

Reclass

As at 31 December 2024
Accumulated Amortization
At 01 January 2024
Charge for the year
Reclass

As at 31 December 2024

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2024

Year ended 31 December 2023
Cost

At 01 January 2023
Additions

Reclass

As at 31 December 2023
Accumulated Amortization
At 01 January 2023
Charge for the year
Reclass

As at 31 December 2023

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2023

Licenses
including Customer base Total
spectrum
Rwf 000" Rwf 000" Rwf 000"
33,211,859 3,686,000 36,897,859
33,211,859 3,686,000 36,897,859
25,892,494 3,686,000 28,611,069
909,022 - 909,022
26,801,515 3,686,000 30,487,515
6,410,344 = 6,410,344
Licenses
including Customer base Total
spectrum
Rwf 000" Rwf 000" Rwf 000"
33,211,859 3,686,000 36,897,859
33,211,859 3,686,000 36,897,859
24,987,679 3,623,390 28,611,069
904,816 62,610 967,426
25,892,495 3,686,000 29,578,495
7,319,364 - 7,319,364
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17.

Right of use assets

Year ended 31 December 2024
Cost

Balance at 1 January 2024
Additions

Balance at 31 December 2024

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2024

Depreciation charge for the year
Deletions*

Balance at 31 December 2024

Net carrying amount
At 31 December 2024

Year ended 31 December 2023
Cost

Balance at 1 January 2023
Additions

Reclass

Balance at 31 December 2023

Accumulated Depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2023

Depreciation charge for the year
Reclass
Deletions*

Balance at 31 December 2023

Net carrying amount

At 31 December 2023

*Deletion represent liability reversed back due to site dismantled

Plant and
equipment Others Total
Rwf 000’ Rwf 000’ Rwf 000'
38,595,267 2,923,155 41,518,422
13,698,467 46,496 13,744,963
52,293,734 2,969,651 55,263,385
24,614,563 2,283,844 26,898,407
5,792,618 65,589 5,858,207
(19,329) 1,713 (17,616)
30,387,852 2,351,146 32,738,998
21,905,882 618,505 22,524,387
39,493,877 (5,051,463) 34,442,414
398,981 = 398,981
(1,297,591) 7,974,618 6,677,027
38,595,267 2,923,155 41,518,422
14,269,975 2,237,011 16,506,986
4,087,504 66,103 4,153,607
6,696,297 (19,270) 6,677,027
(439,213) = (439,213)
24,614,563 2,283,844 26,898,407
13,980,704 639,311 14,620,015
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18. Goodwill

Goodwill

19. Other non-current assets

Payments under protest
Security deposits
Prepaid expense

2024 2023
RWf'000 RWf'000
10,242,636 10,242,636
878,100 878,100
- 1,300
1,861,002 2,611,833
2,739,102 3,491,233

Payment under protest includes payment done to Rwanda Revenue authority against pending tax

cases under assessment
20. Inventories
Handsets and Accessories
Provisions for Handsets and Accessories
Below is the reconciliation of Provision

As on 1 January
Aged based Provision/(Recovery)

343,564 964,897
(70,330) (691,945)
273,234 272,952
691,945 728,736
(621,615) (36,791)
70,330 691,945

The Company’s scratch cards, and sim cards net realizable value is zero, hence the balances at
each period are provided for in full while provision for devices is aged based and lower of net

realizable value or cost.

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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21.

22,

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables
Expected Credit Loss

Other receivables
Vat refundable
Prepayment and Deposits

Movement of Expected Credil Loss
Opening Balance
(Add)/Less: Additions

(Add)/Less: Provision created against revenue
(Add)/Less: Provision created for foreign currency

Closing Balance

10,099,462 9,841,527
(7,081,638) (6,958,188)
3,017,824 2,883,339
1,737,036 1,978,860
2,037,450 1,439,814
9,790,154 7,430,235
16,582,464 13,732,248

(6,958,188)
(19,025)
(8,163)
(96,262)

(7,081,638)

Other receivables include grossing up of creditors & withholding tax recoverable.

Related party transactions and balances

(7,122,339)
16,611
249,641
(102,102)

(6,958,188)

The following provides the total amount of transaction that has been entered into with related
parties and outstanding balances for the relevant reporting period. The purchases from related
parties are made on agreed pricing between related parties. Outstanding balances at the year-
end are unsecured and interest free and settlement occurs in cash. There has been no
guarantee provided for any related party payables. Other related party though not ‘related
parties’ as per the definition of IAS 24 ‘Related party Disclosures’, have been included by way
of a voluntary disclosure, following the best corporate governance practices.

(i)  Trade receivable due from related parties

Airtel Tchad S.A.

Airtel Congo S.A.

Airtel Congo (RDC) S.A.

Airtel Gabon S.A.

Airtel Networks Kenya Limited

Airtel Madagascar S.A.

Airtel Malawi Limited

Celtel Niger S.A.

Airtel Networks Limited

Airtel Tanzania Public Limited Company
Airtel Uganda Limited

Airtel Networks Zambia Plc

Airtel (Seychelles) Limited

Airtel Mobile Commerce Rwanda Limited
Bharti Airtel (UK) Limited

Bharti Airtel Limited

Airtel Africa Services (UK) Limited
Bharti Hexacom Limited

Relationship

Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary

Intermediate Parent
Intermediate Parent

Fellow subsidiary
Fellow subsidiary

41

2024 2023
Rwf'000 Rwf'000
1,001 354

791 67
6,881,264 5,717,709
5,068 5,279
815,041 708,084
94,780 86,329
265,611 237,220
716,911 653,088
229,058 238,646
218,862 91,029
1,162,049 1,058,997
106,346 94,570
12 2
1,953,478 5,310,549
562,308 2,207,818
136,269 130,754
226,281 206,137
21 165
13,375,150 16,746,797




AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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22. Related party transactions and balances (Continued)

(ii)  Trade payable due to related parties

2024 2023
Due to related Party Rwf'000 Rwf'000
‘ 168
AL Tehat)s: i Fellow subsidiary 143
Airtel Congo S.A. Fellow subsidiary 647 592
Airtel Congo (RDC) S.A. Fellow subsidiary 7,908,481 6,480,927
Airtel Gabon S.A. Fellow subsidiary 38,479 35,177
Airtel Networks Kenya Limited Fellow subsidiary 805,072 2,405,608
Airtel Madagascar S.A. Fellow subsidiary 16,816 15,320
Airtel Malawi Limited Fellow subsidiary 38,012 34,637
Celtel Niger S.A. Fellow subsidiary 33,941 30,920
Airtel Networks Limited Fellow subsidiary (9,801) 278,399
Airtel Tanzania Public Limited Company Fellow subsidiary 45,761 44,678
Airtel Uganda Limited Fellow subsidiary 10,746,611 9,535,543
Airtel Networks Zambia Plc Fellow subsidiary 49,089 42,410
Airtel (Seychelles) Limited Fellow subsidiary 12,558 11,367
Bharti Airtel Limited Intermediate Parent 71,758 6,331
Network i2i Limited Intermediate Parent (14,008) 6,712
Nxtra data Limited Fellow subsidiary 353 (1,056)
Bhart Airtel Rwanda holdings Ltd Parent 310,306 282,682
Bharti Airtel International (Netherlands) B.V. Intermediate Parent 173,327 157,897
Bharti Airtel (UK) Limited Intermediate Parent 85,647 111170
Airtel Africa Services (UK) Limited Fellow subsidiary 4,449 4,054
Bharti Hexacom Limited Fellow subsidiary (24) 11
Bharti Airtel Lanka (Private) Limited Fellow subsidiary - 2
Bharti Airtel (France) SAS Fellow subsidiary 63,157 -
20,380,774 19,483,549
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22, Related party transactions and balances (Continued)

(iii)  Key management compensation

Key management personnel are described as the persons having authority and responsibility for
planning, directing and controlling the activities of the company directly or indirectly, including
Executive Directors of the company. For the company these includes executive committee
members.

Details of Key management personnel

(a) Emmanuel Hamez
(b) Juliet Gakwerere
(c) Paulian Kazibwe
(d) Muyenzi Mark

(e) Rugambwa Lamuel
(f) Chuma Vuningoma
(g) Shema Baker

(h) Indrajeet Singh

(i) Adrien Nganizi

(j) Chrysanthe Turatimana
(k) Jidia Gasana

Remuneration to Key management personnel are as below: 2024 2023

Rwf'000 Rwf'000
(a) Salaries and other employment benefits 2,443,225 1,625,449
- Short-term employee benefits 2,067,610 1,406,243
- Post-employment benefits (if any) 195,458 130,036
- Other long-term benefits (if any 180,157 89,170
(b) Director’s fees and sitting allowance 63,579 43,859
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AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the Year ended December 31, 2024

23.

2024 2023
Rwf'000 Rwf'000
Loan
HSBC Bank Loan = 75,595,200
Bank of Kigali Loan (i) 17,259,694 5,157,996
Eco Bank Loan = 1,410,000
BPR Bank Loan (ii) 31,000,000 6,000,000
Kotak Mahindra Bank Loan (iii) 55,321,638 -
IFC Loan (iv) 71,801,780 -
Loan from Bharti Airtel Rwanda Holdings Limited (v) 373,023,250 337,461,485
Loan from Bharti Airtel Africa B.V. (vi) 79,524,855 72,445,400
627,931,217 498,070,081
Maturity Analysis
Current 4,941,078 2,418,298
Non-Current 622,990,139 495,651,783
627,931,217 498,070,081
Movement
Opening 498,070,081 404,814,573
Proceeds 167,123,418 23,652,192
Repayment (83,959,477) (2,722,004)
Exchange Losses 46,697,195 72.325320

627,931,217

498,070,081

(i) Bank of Kigali - In March 2019, the company entered into long term credit facility with Bank of
Kigali (as the lender). The credit facility amounted to Rwf 6 billion attracting fixed interest rate of
15% and was refinanced with maturity in December 2027. This loan is secured by corporate
guarantee from -Bharti Airtel International (Netherland) B.V.

In April 2024, the company entered into an additional long term credit facility with the Bank of
Kigali (as the lender) for Rwf 15 billion attracting fixed interest rate of 15% and was refinanced
with maturity in April 2028. This loan is secured by corporate guarantee from -Bharti Airtel
International (Netherland) B.V.

(i) BPR Bank - In May 2023, the company entered into long term credit facility with Bank Populaire
(as the lender). The credit facility amounted to Rwf 6 billion attracting fixed interest rate of 15%
and is repayable monthly until maturity in May 2030 with moratorium of 2 years. This loan is
secured by corporate guarantee from -Bharti Airtel International (Netherland) B.V

In April 2024, the company entered into an additional long term credit facility with the Bank of
Kigali (as the lender) for Rwf 25 billion attracting fixed interest rate of 15% and is repayable
monthly until maturity in June 2031 with moratorium of 2 years. This loan is secured by corporate
guarantee from -Bharti Airtel International (Netherland) B.V.

(iii) Kotak Mahindra Bank Limited- In May 2024, the company entered into credit facility with Kotak
Mahindra Bank Limited, India Branch (as the lender). Amounting to USD 40 million attracting an
interest rate of aggregate of compounded reference rate and margin of 6.49% and is repayable in
full upon maturity in May 2027. The loan is secured by Bharti Airtel International (Netherland) B.V.

(iv) International Finance Corporation (IFC) - In June 2024, the company entered into long term
credit facility with IFC (as the lender). The credit facility amounted to Rwf 81.5 billion (attracting
fixed interest rate of 15% and is repayable half-yearly until maturity in June 2032. This loan is
secured by corporate guarantee from -Bharti Airtel International (Netherland) B.V.
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24,

25.

26.

27.

(v) Loan from Bharti Airtel Rwanda Holdings limited - The loan is unsecured and does not bear any
interest and is repayable in December 2026. During the year, the Company has repaid loan of US$
1 million (Rwf 1,38 billion).

(vi) Loan from Bharti Airtel Africa B.V. - The loan is unsecured and does not bear any interest and
is repayable in January 2027.

Share Capital

2024 2023
Rwf'000 Rwf'000
Issued and Paid-up share capital
(1,000 shares issued at par value of Rwf 100,000 each) 100,000 100,000
Authorized share capital
(60,000 shares at par value of Rwf 100,000 each) 6,000,000 6,000,000

The parent Company is Bharti Airtel Rwanda Holdings Limited, which owns 100% shareholding of the
issued share capital of the Company. During the year there has been no change in the shareholding
structure.

Cash and bank balances

Cash and cash equivalents
Balances with banks

-Bank deposits with maturity of three months or less - 21,418,640
-On current accounts 12,577,399 4,743,520
Balances held in wallets 248,902 596,287

12,826,301 26,758,447

Other bank balances
Term Deposits with banks with maturity of more than three
months but less than 12 months = 31,498,000

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise of the following
as at 31 December.

Cash and cash equivalents 12,826,301 26,758,447
Bank overdraft (4,279,863) (4,269,825)
8,546,438 22,488,622

Trade and Other Payables

Trade payables 8,620,164 28,411,792
Accrued expenses 14,881,115 4,543,099
Other payables 6,897,711 7,031,297

30,398,990 39,986,188

Deferred Revenue

Current

Deferred Revenue-Current 8,573,132 3,413,460
5,573,132 3,413,460

Non-Current

Deferred Revenue-Non-Current 5,814,425 6,770,224
5,814,425 6,770,224

(This space is intentionally left blank)
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28.

29.

Bank Overdraft
Bank overdraft 4,279,863

4,279,863

4,269,825
4,269,825

Taxation

During the year, Income tax rate has been revised to 28% from 30% w.e.f. 14 September 2023 in
pursuant to Article 2, law no:051/2023 dated 05/09/2023. Further, the Commissioner General on
January 4, 2024, issued a public ruling on article 2 of the Income tax law no 051/2023 stating that
the new Income tax rate is to be applied prospectively, and companies are required to prepare
annual income tax return and apply the prorate computation method basing on the date of
publication 14th September 2023.

Accordingly, income tax is calculated using the enacted income tax rate of 28% (2023: 29.40%).
The Company has not recognised the deferred tax assets arising from tax losses for year ended 31
December 2024 of Rwf’000 238,129,171 (2023: Rwf'000 145,989,055) as it is currently in a loss
position and may recognise them in future if sufficient taxable profits are available. Deferred tax
asset arising from the losses may be deducted from the taxable profit in the next five (5) tax

periods, earlier losses being deducted before later losses.

(i) Current year income tax

(ii) Reconciliation of income tax
Loss before tax

for the year

for the year

ending ending
Dec 2024 Dec 2023
Rwf'000 Rwf'000

(78,987,712)

(105,981,565)

Rwanda’s statutory income tax rate of 28% (2023:

29.4%) (22,116,559) (31,158,580)
Tax effect of expenses non-deductible 68,468 99,016
Deferred tax asset not recognized 22,048,091 31,059,564

As at 31 As at 31

Dec 2024 Dec 2023

(i) Deferred tax asset not recognized on Rwf'000 Rwf000

Accelerated depreciation on property and equipment

(13,074,650)

(7,011,514)

Provisions 80,479,735 93,657,926

Tax losses 238,129,171 145,989,055
305,534,256 232,635,467

Unused tax losses and deductible temporary difference on

(iv) which deferred tax asset is not recognized

Expiring within 5 years 238,129,171 145,989,055

Expiring beyond 5 Years - “

Unlimited 67,405,085 86,646,412
305,534,256 232,635,467
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30.

31,

Other non-financial liabilities

Grant received to subsidize the cost of 4G handset to increase digital penetration in Rwanda (as part
of Connect Rwanda 2.0) is included in current liabilities as deferred grant income and is used to
reduce the cost of purchase of inventories at the time of purchase. The unutilised balance is carried
under current liabilities. Below is the movement of the grant:

Opening balance 50,200,747 -
Add: Grant Received during the year = 61,148,963
Less: grant utilized on purchase of handset (50,200,747) (10,948,216)
Closing balance - 50,200,747

The grant received during the year 2023 was US$ 50 million at rate of Rwf 1,222.98 and fully utilized
in 2024,

Contingent liabilities and Capital Commitments

(a) Legal and tax claims

There are certain lawsuits and claims pending against the Company in various courts of law, which
are being handled by the external legal counsel. The contingent liabilities in respect of pending
litigation against legal and tax cases were Rwf'000 Nil and Rwf'000 885,510 respectively as of 31
December 2024 (2023: Rwf'000 7,425 and Rwf'000 885,510). In the opinion of the directors and
based on independent legal advice, the Company’s liabilities are not likely to be material thus no
provision has been made in these financial statements.

(b) Letters of credit and guarantees

In the ordinary course of business, the Company conducts business involving guarantees and
letters of credit. The majority of these facilities are offset by corresponding obligations of third
parties. As at 31 December 2024, the company had issued performance Guarantees amounting
to Rwf’'000 24,140 (2023: Rwf'000 40,255) issued to corporate customers’ contracts on airtime.
The company has no letters of credit issued.

(c) Lease liabilities

The Company has taken towers on lease. Liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on
a present value basis of contractual payments associated with lease contract. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Company, the lessee’s incremental
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions. Future minimum lease payments under
finance leases are as follows:

Maturity Analysis 2024 2023
Rwf *000’ Rwf ‘000"
Not later than 1 year 10,477,211 11,301,416
Between 1 and 5 years 26,042,954 23,336,816
More than 5 years 15,823,015 6,027,215
Total minimum lease payments 52,343,180 40,665,447
Less: Discount (Unearned Interest) (12,413,110) (10,323,816)
Present Value of Lease Liability 39,930,070 30,341,631
Presented as follows:
Non-current 31,924,971 22,564,174
Current 8,005,099 7,777,457
39,930,070 30,341,631

(This space is intentionally left blank)
49



AIRTEL RWANDA LIMITED
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the Year ended December 31, 2024

Lease liabilities movement:

Opening balance 30,341,631 33,270,969
Liability created during the year/(Deletions) 13,744,963 398,981
Interest on lease liability 4,699,713 4,734,724
Unrealized forex 2,665,699 2,790,149
Payments (11,521,935) (10,853,192)
Closing balance 39,930,070 30,341,631

The Company is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index
or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease
payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against
the right-of-use asset,

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

(d) Capital Commitments
The capital commitments for the year are as follows:

2024 2023

Rwf 000’ Rwf ‘000’

Capital commitments 39,217,254 28,375,107
39,217,254 28,375,107

Capital commitments are authorised and contracted for.

32, Retirement benefit Obligations
The Company contributes to a statutory defined contribution pension scheme, to the Rwanda Social
Security Board. The contributions are charged to profit or loss in the year in which they relate.
Contributions to Rwanda Social Security Board 236,659 187,076
33. Financial risk management

The company is exposed to various risks, including credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and
foreign exchange risk. The company's risk management strategy is based on a clear understanding
of various risks, disciplined risks assessment and measurement procedures and continuous
monitoring. The policies and procedures established for this purpose are continuously benchmarked
with industry best practices.

The Company’s principal financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, and trade and other
payables. The main purpose of these financial liabilities is to raise finances for the Company’s
operations. The Company has trade and other receivables, and cash and short-term deposits that
arrive directly from its operations.

The Company’s senior management at Group level oversees the management of these risks. The
Board of directors’ reviews policies for managing each of these risks which are summarised below:

Market risk

Market risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market prices. Market prices comprise various types of risks: interest rate
risk, currency risk, commodity price risk and other price risk, such as equity risk. Financial
instruments affected by market risk include loans and borrowings and deposits. The salient
exposures to market risks are discussed below.
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Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of
changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the HSBC bank loan. The Company manages
its interest rate risks by negotiating and entering into short-term fixed interest rates agreements.

Rwf ‘000 Rwf 000

2024 2023

HSBC & Kotak Mahindra Bank Loans 55,321,638 75,595,200
Sensitivity analysis:

Effect on profit (-/+) 2% 1,106,433 1,511,904

The sensitivity above is the effect of the assumed change in interest rates on interest bearing assets
and liabilities to profit or loss and equity. The above sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the
interest rate risk exposure for the Company as interest bearing liabilities are fixed within the next
one year.

Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The Company’s exposure to the risk of
changes in foreign exchange rates relates primarily to the Company’s operating activities (when
purchases are denominated in a different currency from the Company’s functional currency).

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity, to a reasonable possible change in the USD with
all other variables held constant, of the Company’s profit before tax and equity due to changes in
fair value of monetary assets and liabilities. The Company’s exposure to foreign currency changes

for all other currencies is not material.

2024 2023
Rwf ‘000 Rwf ‘000
Foreign Currency denominated Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 5,004,431 4,315,604
Trade and other receivables 1,472,091 2,143,171
Due from related parties 13,375,151 16,746,796
Total Assets 19,851,672 23,205,571
Foreign Currency denominated Liabilities
Trade and other payables 736,639 5,593,264
Borrowings 507,869,743 485,502,085
Due to related parties 20,380,774 19,483,549
Lease Liability - 19,748,014
Total Liabilities 528,987,156 530,326,912

Net financial position

(509,135,484)

(507,121,341)

Effect on profit before Effect on
Sensitivity Analysis tax equity
Rwf ‘000 Rwf ‘000
31st Dec 2024
Changes in USD -+ 6% 30,548,129 30,548,129
31st Dec 2023
Changes in USD -+ 6% 30,427,280 30,427,280
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33.

Financial risk management (Continued)
Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or
customer contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company has managed its exposure to credit risk
by ensuring that all distributors have a bank guarantees to cover amount of credit given to them.
Apart from bank guarantee, no other collateral is held for any of the above assets. All receivables
that are neither past due nor impaired are within their approved credit limits. No receivables have
had their terms renegotiated. The company is exposed to credit risk from its operating activities,
primarily from trade receivables but also from cash, other banks balances and other financial
receivables.

All past due trade receivables have been reviewed by management and appropriate impairment
losses recognized in the financial statements, The Company has policies in place to ensure that
contracts are entered into with customers with appropriate credit history and that its financial
interests are contractually safeguarded at the time of engagement.

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institutions is managed by the Group's treasury
policies. Investments of surplus funds are made only with approved financial institutions, whose
credit assessment is assessed on a regular basis.

The amount that best represents Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk without taking
account of the value of collateral obtained is made up as follows:

12 Month or Internal Credit Gross Net Carrying

At 31 December 2024: lifetime ECL rating Carrying Less: Amount
Amount Allowances

Rwf’'000 Rwf'000 Rwf’000

Trade Receivable Lifetime ECL  Performing 23,664,103 (7,081,638) 16,582,464

Due from related partie: Lifetime ECL  Performing 13,375,151 - 13.375,151

Total 37,039,253 (7,081,638) 29,957,615

12 Month or Internal Credit Gross Net Carrying

At 31 December 2023: lifetime ECL rating Carrying Less: Amount
Amount Allowances

Rwf'000 Rwf'000 Rwf'000

Trade Receivable Lifetime ECL  Performing 20,690,436 (6,958,188) 13,732,248

Due from related partie: Lifetime ECL Performing 16,746,797 - 16,746,797

Total 37,437,233 (6,958,188) 30,479,045

The Company considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments for trade receivables
are 90 days past due and for Interconnect receivables are 270 days past due. However, in certain
cases, the Company may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Company is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Company. A financial asset
is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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34. Capital Management

The Company receives shareholder’s loan from the parent Company as the main source of financing.
The primary objective of the Company's capital management is to ensure that it maintains a strong
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize shareholder
value. The Company manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes
in economic conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the
dividend payment to shareholders, return on capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 31 December
2024. The gearing ratios at 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023 were as follows:

Shareholders loan

External Loan

Bank overdraft

Lease liabilities

Less: Cash and cash equivalents

2024
Rwf‘000

452,548,105
175,383,112
4,279,863
39,930,070
(12,826,301)

2023
Rwf'000

409,906,885
88,163,196
4,269,825
30,788,474
(26,758,447)

Net Debt (A)

659,314,849

506,369,932

Equity (B)
Capital and net debt (C= A + B)
Gearing ratio (A/C)

35. Fair value of financial assets and liabilities

(566,711,890)
92,602,959
712%

(487,724,178)
18,645,755
2716%

The category wise details as to the carrying value, fair value and the level of fair value measurement

hierarchy of the group’s financial instruments are as follows.

As of 31 December 2024: Carrying Value Fair Value
Rwf'000 Rwf’000
Financial assets (Amortized cost)
Trade and other receivables 16,582,464 16,582,464
Due from related parties 13,375,151 13,375,151
Cash and cash equivalents 12,826,301 12,826,301
Total 42,783,916 42,783,916
Financial liabilities (Amortized cost)
Lease liability 39,930,070 39,930,070
Loan 627,931,217 627,931,217
Bank overdraft 4,279,863 4,279,863
Due to related parties 20,380,774 20,380,774
Trade and other payables 30,398,990 30,398,990

Total
As of 31 December 2023:
Financial assets (Amortized cost)

722,920,914

722,920,914

Trade and other receivables 13,732,248 13,732,248
Due from related parties 16,746,797 16,746,797
Cash and cash equivalents 26,758,447 26,758,447
Total 57,237,492 57,237,492
Financial liabilities (Amortized cost

Lease liability 30,341,631 30,341,631
Loan 498,070,081 498,070,081
Bank overdraft 4,269,825 4,269,825
Due to related parties 19,483,549 19,479,672
Trade and other payables 39,986,188 39,987,693
Total 592,151,274 592,148,902
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35.

36.

37.

38.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities (continued)
The following methods/assumptions were used to estimate the fair values;

i The carrying value of bank deposits, trade receivables, trade payables, short-term borrowings,
other current financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair value mainly due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments.

il Fair value of quoted financial instruments is based on quoted market price at the reporting
date.

iii. The fair value of non-current financial assets, long-term borrowings and other financial
liabilities is estimated by discounting future cash flows using current rates applicable to
instruments with similar terms, currency, credit risk and remaining maturities.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and year ended 31 December 2023 there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2 fair value measurements, and no transfer into or out of Level
3 fair value measurements.

Comparatives
Where necessary, comparative figures have been re-classified or/and adjusted or excluded to
conform to changes in presentation in the current year.

Events after Reporting Period

The Company has evaluated all events that occur after the balance sheet date through the date
when the financial statements were issued to determine if they must be reported. The management
of the company determined that below were non-adjusting event and thus are not required to be
adjusted as at reporting date.

Going concern assessment

The Directors are aware that during the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company incurred a
net loss of Rwf'000 78,987,712 (2023: Rwf'000 105,986,757). As at that date, accumulated losses
were Rwf'000 566,811,890 (2023: Rwf000 487,824,179), it may be noted that company has
Shareholder’s loan of Rwf'000 452,548,105 (2023: Rwf000 409,906,885). After considering
shareholder's loan and external source of financing, there is sufficient liquidity to manage the
operations.

The Directors are of the of the opinion that the company will operate on going concern basis on the
assumption that the Company:

i, Will generate cash inflows from operations;
ii.  Will obtain funding from the third parties; and

fii. ~ The Company will be able to obtain from the shareholders any additional funding required to
meet its obligations as and when they fall due.

The company is confident that the funds described above will be available to the Company to support
its obligations as required and that it is therefore appropriate to prepare the financial statements on
a going concern basis.
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